THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000065

David Lee Meggett,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT
OF CERTIORARI

Tricia A. Blanchette
Post Office Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
(803) 908-3266
Attorney for Petitioner

RECEIVED

AUG 24 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. The lower court erred in finding that counsel was not deficient nor was there resulting prejudice when counsel failed enter a challenge pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986).
- II. The lower court erred by failing to find counsel's trial strategy amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel when he argued two conflicting defense theories at trial and told the jury about Petitioner's version of events, in support of one theory, that was not offered through Petitioner's testimony during trial.
- III. The lower court committed an abuse of discretion in denying Petitioner's request for expert funding.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a Post Conviction Relief Appeal, great deference is given to the lower court's findings of fact but deference is not given to conclusions of law.¹ The existence of "any evidence" of probative value is sufficient to uphold the lower court's ruling on findings of fact. Webb v. State, 281 S.C. 237, 314 S.E.2d 839 (1984). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and the appellate

¹ Recently, in Smalls v. State, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018), this Court held: "In numerous cases, this Court has incorrectly stated an appellate court "gives great deference to the PCR court's . . . conclusions of law." See, e.g., Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). The court of appeals repeated our misstatement, quoting Porter. Smalls, 415 S.C. at 496, 783 S.E.2d at 820. We clarify that appellate courts review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts. While we uphold the analysis and result of the following decisions, we now direct that none of these decisions should be read to suggest an appellate court gives any deference to a PCR court's conclusions of law: Gonzales v. State, 419 S.C. 2, 10, 795 S.E.2d 835, 839 (2017); Gibbs v. State, 416 S.C. 209, 218, 785 S.E.2d 455, 459 (2016); McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 473, 746 S.E.2d 41, 45 (2013); Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 42, 723 S.E.2d 375, 378 (2012); Holden v. State, 393 S.C. 565, 573, 713 S.E.2d 611, 615 (2011); Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 455, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011); Robinson v. State, 387 S.C. 568, 574, 693 S.E.2d 402, 405 (2010); Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 589, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010); Terry v. State, 383 S.C. 361, 371, 680 S.E.2d 277, 282 (2009); Jones v. State, 382 S.C. 589, 595, 677 S.E.2d 20, 23 (2009); Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 608, 675 S.E.2d 416, 420 (2009); Miller v. State, 379 S.C. 108, 115, 665 S.E.2d 596, 599 (2008); Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 100, 665 S.E.2d 164, 167 (2008); Harris v. State, 377 S.C. 66, 73, 659 S.E.2d 140, 144 (2008); Lorenzen v. State, 376 S.C. 521, 529, 657 S.E.2d 771, 776 (2008); Smith v. State, 375 S.C. 507, 515, 654 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2007); Watson v. State, 370 S.C. 68, 71, 634 S.E.2d 642, 643 (2006); Porter, 368 S.C. at 383, 629 S.E.2d at 356; Simpson v. Moore, 367 S.C. 587, 595, 627 S.E.2d 701, 705 (2006); Bright v. State, 365 S.C. 355, 358, 618 S.E.2d 296, 298 (2005); Winns v. State, 363 S.C. 414, 417, 611 S.E.2d 901, 903 (2005); Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005); Sellers v. State, 362 S.C. 182, 187, 607 S.E.2d 82, 84 (2005); Magazine v. State, 361 S.C. 610, 615, 606 S.E.2d 761, 763 (2004); Huggler v. State, 360 S.C. 627, 632, 602 S.E.2d 753, 756 (2004); Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 192, 569 S.E.2d 318, 322 (2002); Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000)."

court “will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

"An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law." Maybank v. BB&T Corp., 416 S.C. 541, 567, 787 S.E.2d 498, 511 (2016); see also State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2014) ("An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." (quoting State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166-67 (2007))).

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

During the June 2009 term of the Charleston County Grand Jury, Petitioner was indicted for Burglary, First Degree, and Criminal Sexual Conduct, First Degree (2009-GS-10-4829, 4830). App. p. 848. On November 8, 2010, a trial was held in front of the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. App. p. 1. Petitioner was represented by Beattie Butler, Esquire. On November 10, 2010, Petitioner was found guilty as indicted and sentenced to a term of thirty (30) years concurrently on both charges. App. p. 848.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed, and the appeal was perfected by Breen Stevens, Esquire. The following issues were briefed on behalf of Petitioner:

1. The trial court erred by refusing Meggett's request for time to have a comfoter examined for DNA, upon which he asserts a prior consensual encounter occurred between him and the complaining witness, and which, if positive, would have discredited the complaining witness's testimony regarding their relationship and prior sexual encounters.
2. The State's reference during closing argument to a lack of evidence supporting the interpretation of the defense's theory impermissibly shifted the burden upon Meggett as an indirect comment on the defendant's right to remain silent.
3. The trial court should have directed a verdict of not guilty for the offense of first degree burglary based upon the lack of evidence regarding Meggett's intent to commit a crime at the time he entered the dwelling.

App. p. 474. On June 5, 2012, an oral argument was conducted. An Opinion affirming Petitioner's convictions and sentences was entered on June 27, 2012. State v. Meggett, Op. No. 4994 (S.C. Ct. App. June 27, 2012). App. p. 544. The remittitur was issued on July 13, 2012.

On June 25, 2013, an Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed. App. p. 554. The State submitted a Return on December 11, 2013. App. p. 562. On September 8, 2014, Tricia A. Blanchette filed a Motion for Discovery, which was heard by the

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., on that same date at the Charleston County Courthouse. App. p. 567. On September 29, 2014, the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. issued an Order Substituting Counsel and Authorizing Discovery in Post Conviction Relief. App. p. 572.

On December 21, 2015, Petitioner, through counsel, amended his Application by adding the following specific allegations to his original claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and added the claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel:

1. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to properly prepare and conduct a reasonable investigation into Applicant's case prior to going to trial.
2. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to communicate with Applicant adequately and timely prior to trial regarding the State's case, specifically the DNA evidence, which resulted in counsel's failure to obtain a DNA expert and the denial of a continuance motion for the testing of "critical" evidence.
3. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to consult with Applicant on and articulate a clear defense strategy prior to and during trial. Ineffective assistance for providing the jury with the following alternate and incomplete defense theories that lead to confusion and prejudice to Applicant: 1) Applicant engaged in consensual sex with the victim, and 2) the DNA and physical evidence does not establish that sexual intercourse took place between Applicant and victim on the date in question.
4. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for informing the court that Applicant would testify to prior sexual encounters and informing the jury during opening and closing argument that Applicant engaged in a consensual sexual encounter with victim, yet advising Applicant to not take the stand at trial to testify to such.
5. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to question victim about her knowledge of Applicant's prior profession and possible motive for the allegations.
6. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to make a reasonable argument for a directed verdict on the burglary charge.

7. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to put up a defense through witnesses and evidence.
8. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing make the arguments made on direct appeal regarding the State's closing argument; thus, failing to properly preserve the issues for appeal.
9. Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for arguments made to the jury during opening and closing arguments that interjected consensual sex into the trial, help support the State's theory of the case and provided the jury with two conflicting defense theories.
10. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failing to argue that Applicant had consent to be in the dwelling he was charged with burglarizing.
11. Pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRPC, Applicant would move to amend to conform to the evidence and testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing.

App. p. 576. On April 1, 2016, Petitioner filed a Motion for Indigent Funds. App. p. 579.

On April 18, 2016, a hearing was held at the Charleston County Courthouse in front of the Honorable Doyet A. Early. App. p. 594. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson, Assistant Attorney General. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Early took the matter under advisement. Thereafter, Judge Early informed both parties that he intended to deny the motion and requested that the State submit a proposed Order. As was addressed on the record at the evidentiary hearing, a signed Order was not issued until November 30, 2016 and was filed on December 7, 2016. App. p. 622.

On December 7, 2016, an evidentiary hearing was conducted at the Charleston County Courthouse in front of the Honorable G. Thomas, Cooper, Jr. App. p. 624. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by Alicia Olive, Assistant Attorney General.

At the start of the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner's counsel made a motion to verbally amend the Application to include a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to make a Batson challenge at trial. App. p. 632. Respondent objected. App. p. 633. After hearing from both parties and inquiring of defense counsel, the motion was granted. App. p. 634

During the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner took the stand and called the following witnesses: Bernard Kelly, Beattie Butler, Esquire, and Breen Stevens, Esquire. The State called Chad Simpson, Esquire. At the conclusion of the hearing, the court took the matter under advisement and requested proposed Orders from both parties. On September 18, 2017, an Order of Dismissal was issued by the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. App. p. 770. Petitioner, through counsel, filed a timely Motion, Pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP. App. p. 832. Respondent filed a Response. App. p. 839. On December 12, 2017, an Order Denying Applicant's Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment was issued, from which this appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Where an application for post conviction relief alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Id. 466 U.S. at 686; see Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The

courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691. The applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Bell v. State, 321 S.C. 238 (1996); see also Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 238 (1989); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117–18.

- I. The lower court erred in finding that counsel was not deficient nor was there resulting prejudice when counsel failed enter a challenge pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986).

Petitioner submits that the lower court erred in finding that counsel was not deficient nor was there resulting prejudice when counsel failed to enter a challenge pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986). Petitioner submits that the lower court's findings fail to address the testimony offered and the evidence available in the transcript regarding the jurors that were struck and sat on the jury. As a result, the evidence in the record does not support the lower court's ruling and must be reversed.

At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel was directed to the transcript, which reflected that four of the State's strikes were used on African Americans, and he was

asked about not making a Batson challenge. App. p. 10, 651. He responded that he could not recall a reason for not making a challenge, and he sometimes chooses to make a challenge and sometimes chooses not to make a challenge during a trial. App. p. 651.

On cross-examination, trial counsel indicated that he had skimmed through his file since gaining access to it that morning, and it did not shed any light on why he did not make a Batson challenge. App. pp. 696-7. The State also attempted to ask him about an African American female juror, with an incarcerated family member, that was struck. App. pp. 694-5. On redirect, trial counsel acknowledged that the State struck two African American females that answered that they had a family member in prison (Juror #134, 214), but the State sat a white female juror with a family member in prison and on probation (Juror #274). App. pp. 10, 47-49, 53, 55, 702-3. He further acknowledged that the State struck an African American male after seating Juror #274. App. pp. 702-3. He stated that he could have argued that the State's race neutral reason behind its strikes was pre-textual, but he did not make a Batson challenge. App. pp. 703-4.

When Breen Stevens, Esquire, took the stand he acknowledged that he was previously at the Office of Appellate Defense and handled Applicant's direct appeal. App. p. 706. He indicated that he was currently working as a public defender. He went through the process he utilized to identify and brief the issues presented to the appellate court.

He explained that he always would check for a Batson issue. App. p. 707. Referring to the transcript, he indicated that four out of five strikes used by the State were on African Americans, so he thought it was important to keep an eye on the basis for that – to see if there was a challenge on race or gender raised by the defense. App. p. 708. He

shared and explained his personal like of a good Batson issue on appeal. App. p. 708, lns. 17-23. When asked to address the viability of the issue on appeal if trial counsel would have made a Batson challenge, he responded positively and explained the argument available since the State struck two African American female jurors and sat a similarly situated white female juror. App. pp. 709-10.

Chad Simpson, Esquire, was called to the stand by the State. He recalled being involved in the prosecution of Petitioner's case. App. p. 755. He remembered being involved in voir dire and jury selection, but he specifically did not recall striking the jury. App. p. 755. He explained that he attempted to pull information from the file, but he could not find any information to shed light on why the strikes were utilized. App. p. 756. He shared some of the common reasons for striking a juror. App. pp. 756-58. When asked if he would have been prepared to defend a Batson challenge, he indicated that would have but he had no recollection of his mindsight at the time for striking the jurors. App. pp. 756-58. Based upon his general practice, he testified that he would have had a race neutral reason for striking the jurors. App. p. 759, lns. 5-8.

In State v. Inman, 409 S.C. 19, 25-27, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108-09 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained:

"The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the striking of a [juror] on the basis of race or gender." McCrea v. Gheraibeh, 380 S.C. 183, 186, 669 S.E.2d 333, 334 (2008) (citing State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 615, 545 S.E.2d 805, 810 (2001)); see also Batson, 476 U.S. at 89. The United States Supreme Court has set forth a three-step inquiry for evaluating whether a party executed a peremptory challenge in a manner which violated the Equal Protection Clause. See Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767-68, 115 S. Ct. 1769, 131 L. Ed. 2d 834 (1995).

First, the [party asserting the Batson] challenge must make a prima facie showing that the challenge was based on race. If a sufficient showing is

made, the trial court will move to the second step in the process, which requires the [party opposing the Batson] challenge to provide a race neutral explanation for the challenge. If the trial court finds that burden has been met, the process will proceed to the third step, at which point the trial court must determine whether the [party asserting] the challenge has proved purposeful discrimination. The ultimate burden always rests with the [party asserting the Batson challenge] to prove purposeful discrimination.

State v. Giles, 407 S.C. 14, 17, 754 S.E.2d 261, 263 (2014) (internal citations omitted); see also Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 476-77, 128 S. Ct. 1203, 170 L. Ed. 2d 175 (2008) (quoting Miller-El v. Dretke, 545 U.S. 231, 277, 125 S. Ct. 2317, 162 L. Ed. 2d 196 (2005)).

Step two of the analysis is perhaps the easiest step to meet as it does not require that the race-neutral explanation be persuasive, or even plausible. Purkett, 514 U.S. at 768; Randall v. State, 716 So. 2d 584, 588 (Miss. 1998). The explanation must only be "clear and reasonably specific such that the [party asserting the Batson challenge] has a full and fair opportunity to demonstrate pretext in the reason given and the trial court to fulfill its duty [in step three] to assess the plausibility of the reason in light of all the evidence with a bearing on it." Giles, 407 S.C. at 21, 754 S.E.2d at 265; see., e.g., id. at 17, 754 S.E.2d at 262, 265-66 (finding that a defendant's explanation that he "did not feel the [struck] jurors were right for the jury," while "technically, semantically and intellectually racially neutral," would not allow the circuit court to "assess the plausibility of the proffered reason for striking the potential jurors").

In contrast, step three of the above analysis requires the court to carefully evaluate whether the party asserting the Batson challenge has proven racial discrimination by demonstrating that the proffered race-neutral reasons are mere pretext for a discriminatory intent. State v. Green, 655 So. 2d 272, 290 (La. 1995); see also Batson, 476 U.S. at 93-94 (stating that the court must consider "the totality of the relevant facts," including both direct and circumstantial evidence). During step three, the party asserting the Batson challenge should point to direct evidence of racial discrimination, such as showing that the opponent struck a juror for a facially neutral reason but did not strike a similarly-situated juror of another race. Edwards, 384 S.C. at 508-09, 682 S.E.2d at 822; see also Haigler, 334 S.C. at 629, 515 S.E.2d at 91. In doing so, the party proves that the "originally neutral reason was . . . a pretext because it was not applied in a neutral manner." State v. Oglesby, 298 S.C. 279, 281, 379 S.E.2d 891, 892 (1989).

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