**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000065

DAVID LEE MEGGETT,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

RECEIVED
SEP 24 2018
S.C. SUPREME COURT

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Chief Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT.

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Court must deny certiorari because evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to prove either deficient performance or prejudice under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), from counsel's failure to argue a *Batson*¹ motion. Also, Petitioner's argument that the PCR judge's "findings fail to address the testimony offered and the evidence available in the transcript regarding the jurors that were struck and sat on the jury" is not properly before this Court because Petitioner did not present it to the PCR judge, it was not argued in his proposed order, and he did not include this argument in his Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion.

Respondent submits that this Court must deny certiorari because evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to prove either deficient performance or prejudice under *Strickland* from counsel's failure to argue a *Batson* motion. *See App. 823-26.* Also, Petitioner's contention that the PCR judge's "findings fail to address the testimony offered and the evidence available in the transcript regarding the jurors that were struck and sat on the jury" is not properly before this Court because Petitioner did not present it

¹ See *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

to the PCR judge, either in his proposed order or his Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion.

In a PCR action, the petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the petitioner must make a twofold showing. First, he must demonstrate that his attorneys' "representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88. "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy.'" *Id.* (Citation omitted).

Even if an inmate proves deficient performance, he must also prove that he was prejudiced by his attorneys' ineffectiveness. This requires proof "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. It is insufficient to prove "that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." *Id.* at 693, 104 S.Ct. at 2067. Instead, "[c]ounsel's errors must be 'so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.'" *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 104 (2011) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687).

As this Court explained in *State v. Rayfield*, 369 S.C. 106, 112, 631 S.E.2d 244, 247

(2006):

“The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the striking of a venire person on the basis of race or gender.” *State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. 604, 615, 545 S.E.2d 805, 810 (2001). “The purposes of *Batson* and its progeny are to protect the defendant’s right to a fair trial by a jury of the defendant’s peers, protect each venireperson’s right not to be excluded from jury service for discriminatory reasons, and preserve public confidence in the fairness of our system of justice by seeking to eradicate discrimination in the jury selection process.” *State v. Haigler*, 334 S.C. 623, 628-29, 515 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1999). Both the State and defendants are prohibited from discriminatorily exercising a peremptory challenge of a prospective juror. *Georgia v. McCollum*, 505 U.S. 42, 58, 112 S.Ct. 2348, 2358-59, 120 L.Ed.2d 33 (1992).

We set forth the proper procedure for a *Batson* hearing in *State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (1996) (citing *Purkett v. Elem*, 514 U.S. 765, 115 S.Ct. 1769, 131 L.Ed.2d 834 (1995)). After a party objects to a jury strike, the proponent of the strike must offer a facially race-neutral explanation. This explanation is not required to be persuasive or even plausible. Once the proponent states a reason that is race-neutral, the burden is on the party challenging the strike to show the explanation is mere pretext, either by showing similarly situated members of another race were seated on the jury or the reason given for the strike is so fundamentally implausible as to constitute mere pretext despite a lack of disparate treatment. *Adams*, 322 S.C. at 123-24, 470 S.E.2d at 371-72; *Haigler*, 334 S.C. at 629-30, 515 S.E.2d at 90-91.

See also Rice v. Collins, 546 U.S. 333, 338-39 (2006).

“Under *Batson* ... and later decisions applying *Batson*, parties are constitutionally prohibited from exercising peremptory challenges to exclude jurors based on race, ethnicity, or sex.” *Rivera v. Illinois*, 556 U.S. 148, 148 (2009). *See also Snyder v. Louisiana*, 552 U.S. 472 (2008); *United States v. Lane*, 866 F.2d 103, 105 (4th Cir. 1989). Both the jury selection sheet and the trial transcript here reflect that the prosecution exercised four of its five peremptory strikes to remove African-American veniremen and that counsel did not make a *Batson* motion contesting the prosecutor's use of its strikes, after six African-Americans were seated as petit

jurors.²

Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he had made *Batson* motions in some cases tried both before and after Petitioner's trial, and that he had not made *Batson* motions in other cases. He could not remember why he did not make a motion in this case, but he testified that he would have made the motion if he had thought that the State's use of its strikes was an issue. He also conceded that the "50/50" racial composition of the jury "likely could" have impacted his decision not to make a *Batson* motion. *App. 651; 694-97.*

Assistant Ninth Circuit Solicitor Chad Simpson, Esquire, testified that he and Assistant Solicitor Culver Kidd prosecuted Petitioner. They were both involved in the voir dire and jury selection, and they collaborated on jury selection. *App. 755-57.* He did not independently recall the reasons for striking the four African-American veniremen at issue, even after he had reviewed the trial transcript. Before his testimony, he had pulled and reviewed his entire case file. However, "[t]here is no information in there involving jury selection."³ He had also run "rap sheets" on the four jurors using their first and last names, gender and race, but he discovered that "the names were too common." *App. 755-56.* However, he testified that he takes the concerns of *Batson* "very seriously, almost to a fault" and he felt that the ultimate composition of Petitioner's jury reflected this. *App. 758.* While he would have had a race neutral reason for his use of his strikes if counsel had made a *Batson* motion, he was unable to recall those reasons six years after

² Four of these seated jurors were women and two were men. *App. 2-H; 51-71.*

³ He explained that the case files in the Solicitor's office typically have only jurors' names, addresses and criminal history. *App. 756.* Additionally, the in-house juror information sheets of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office only went back to January 2011 and Petitioner's trial was in November 2010. Likewise, the Charleston County Clerk of Court's Office purges its records after three years. So, he was unable to obtain any information concerning jury selection in this case. *App. 758-59.*

the trial. *PCR Tr. pp. 758-59.*

Petitioner's appellate attorney, Breen Stevens, Esquire, testified that he saw where the State had exercised four of its five peremptory challenges on African-American veniremen in the course of reviewing the transcript on appeal.⁴ He speculated that he might have been able to show that an explanation given by the State was possibly pretext if an argument on this basis had been made at trial. *App. 706-10.* However, the record supports the PCR judge's finding (*App. 825*) that his testimony does not support the present claim "because he candidly admitted that he only had a cold record and that he did not know why the State struck any juror, since the State was not required to explain its strikes at trial." *See App. 708-09.*

In denying relief on this claim, the PCR judge found that:

The current record simply does not support the conclusion that there was a racial animus for any of the strikes used by the prosecution. Although the State's first challenge was used to strike juror 134, an African-American female, the Court notes that the very first juror seated, juror 184, was African-American female. Also, two more African Americans were seated as jurors before the State struck juror 214, an African-American female. Further, a total of six African Americans served on the petit jury. *Tr. p. 2-H.*

The Court finds that the testimony of trial counsel and Mr. Simpson was credible. Thus, the Court finds that the State exercised its peremptory challenges with both an awareness of and sensitivity to the requirements of *Batson*. The Court further finds that counsel, who was a very experienced public defender, would have made a *Batson* motion if he felt that one was appropriate. *See Howell v. Trammell*, 728 F.3d 1202, 1227 (10th Cir. 2013) ("Because Howell has not shown any *Batson* violations, he cannot show counsel erred in failing to object. Thus, he is not entitled to habeas relief"); *Chanh Minh Dang v. Giurbino*, 589 F. App'x 385, 386–87 (9th Cir. 2015), *cert. denied*, 135 S.Ct. 2864 (2015); *Com. v. Dennis*, 552 Pa. 331, 343, 715 A.2d 404, 409 (1998) ("Appellant offers no evidence that the prosecutor exhibited racial animus in striking African–American venirepersons. Indeed, the impaneled jury included four African–American jurors and one African–American alternate, which indicates a lack of racial animus. Trial counsel

⁴ The Court Reporter's header for Mr. Stevens' testimony incorrectly reflects it is the direct examination of trial counsel, Mr. Butler, but it is actually Mr. Stevens' testimony. *See App. 706.*

was not ineffective for failing to raise a plainly baseless *Batson* claim”). As a result, the Court finds that Applicant has not overcome *Strickland*’s strong presumption that “under the circumstances, the [failure to make a *Batson* motion] ‘might be considered sound trial strategy.’ ” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. at 2065 (citation omitted). See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052. See also *Burt v. Titlow*, 134 S.Ct. 10, 17 (2013) (“It should go without saying that the absence of evidence cannot overcome the ‘strong presumption that counsel’s conduct [fell] within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance’ ”) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052); [*Richter*,] 562 U.S. at 105, 131 S.Ct. at 787 (quoting *Strickland*).

App. 825-26.

Again, “[a]n appellate court must give deference to the PCR court’s factual findings, and must uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them.” *Buckson v. State*, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018) (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). See also *State v. Blackwell*, 420 S.C. 127, 143 n. 12, 801 S.E.2d 713, 722 n. 12 (2017) (“The dissent agrees there is evidence to support the trial court’s conclusion; however, it finds the decision is against the preponderance of the evidence. In reaching this conclusion, the dissent disregards our deferential standard of review and effectively acts as a trial court rather than an appellate court”), *cert. denied*, 138 S.Ct. 985 (2018). The PCR judge’s finding that the record did not “support the conclusion that there was a racial animus for any of the strikes used by the prosecution” is supported by the testimony of both trial counsel and Mr. Simpson. Likewise, counsel’s testimony supports the finding that, as an experienced attorney, he “would have made a *Batson* motion if he felt that one was appropriate.”

Further, the PCR judge’s reliance on *Strickland*’s “strong presumption” of competent representation was not clearly erroneous. See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Since its decision in *Strickland*, the Supreme Court has reiterated this “strong presumption” and has clearly held that it cannot be overcome by a silent record. See *Burt v. Titlow*, 571 U.S. 12, 23 (2013) (citing

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689) *Richter*, 562 U.S. at 104 (quoting *Strickland*). See also *Maryland v. Kulbicki*, 136 S.Ct. 2, 3 (2015); *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986). Moreover, the record supports application of this presumption to this claim.

Petitioner asserts for the first time on appeal that the PCR judge’s “findings fail to address the testimony offered and the evidence available in the transcript regarding the jurors that were struck and sat on the jury.” Respondent submits that this argument is not preserved for appellate review because Petitioner did not present it to the PCR judge, either in his proposed order or his Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion. *App. 832-37. Marlar v. State*, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) (“Because [applicant] did not make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the PCR judge to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on his allegations, the issues were not preserved for appellate review, and the Court of Appeals erred in addressing the merits of the issues and remanding the matter to the PCR judge”); *Burgess v. State*, 402 S.C. 92, 95, 738 S.E.2d 264, 265-66 (Ct. App. 2013).

Moreover, none of the evidence that Petitioner claims the PCR judge failed to address, in itself, demonstrates racial animus. Indeed, as appellate counsel noted the record did not demonstrate racial animus. Also, counsel did not attribute any racial animus to the strikes, and the prosecutor could not recall the reasons he struck various jurors because of the passage of time and the absence of any manner to refresh his recollection. Therefore, the record supports the PCR judge’s conclusion that Petitioner failed to overcome *Strickland’s* presumption of competent representation.

II. This Court must deny certiorari because the record supports the PCR judge’s factual findings and his decision denying Petitioner’s claim that counsel was ineffective for advising Petitioner not testify, after telling the trial judge (in camera) that Petitioner would testify to prior consensual sexual encounters with the victim and informing the jury in opening statement that he and the victim had consensual sex was not controlled by an error

of law. Likewise, relief was properly denied on Petitioner's claim that counsel presented supposedly "alternative and incomplete" theories of defense.

Petitioner claims that counsel was ineffective for advising Petitioner not testify, after telling the trial judge (in camera) that Petitioner would testify to prior consensual sexual encounters with the victim and informing the jury in opening statement that he and the victim had consensual sex. He further claims that counsel presented supposedly "alternative and incomplete" theories of defense. The PCR judge's rejection of both claims is found on *App. 793-810*. Respondent submits that the record supports the PCR judge's factual findings and that denial of relief was not controlled by an error of law.

While the PCR judge's Order adequately addresses these claims and certiorari should be denied for the reasons found by the PCR judge, Respondent would address several matters. First, the record supports the finding that counsel's investigation was constitutionally adequate under *Strickland*. See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691.⁵ See also *App. 780-85*. And, Petitioner does not challenge the adequacy of counsel's investigation, separate from this claim. Counsel was attempting to establish that the victim was "somewhat of a squatter and living with other squatters." Although he did not find any witnesses to confirm this, the victim never denied it. *App. 645-48*. Also, based upon counsel's conversations with Petitioner, counsel's theory on how to handle the victim as a witness was to show "she had slept with him in the past, which I believe she admitted, and that he had loaned her money. Now, I don't believe that she said it was a money-for-sex exchange, but that was the inference that I wanted to be drawn." *App. 649*.

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